Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-23-2018

Hodge for and on behalf of Welch v. Waggoner Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45336

I. STATEMENT OF CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the trial court's decision in an interpleader action regarding the disposition funds from joint bank accounts. Jimmie Hodge, as Guardian, for and on behalf of Paul R. Welch ("Welch"), an incapacitated person, asserted that the funds were Welch's under Idaho law as Welch contributed all the funds that were in the subject accounts. The Estate of Barbara Sue Chitwood ("Chitwood Estate") asserted that Idaho Code section 15-2-803 (the "Slayer Statute") operated to prohibit Welch from having the money he contributed.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

Farmers Bank initiated this interpleader suit, depositing money from two joint accounts with the district court. Welch and the Chitwood Estate filed answers. Welch filed his first *Motion for Summary Judgment*, which the trial court denied and then issued a stay on the proceedings pending the outcome of Welch's criminal case. The issue of ownership of two vehicles was joined into this action. After Welch was deemed incapacitated, Welch's guardian filed a second *Motion for Summary Judgment*. In its decision on Welch's second *Motion for Summary Judgment*, the trial court awarded the joint account funds to the Chitwood Estate and the vehicles to Welch. After the decision by the trial court and the Notice of Appeal was filed, Welch passed away. A Substitution of Party was filed on or about October 30, 2017, substituting in Jim Hodge, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Paul Robert Welch ("Welch Estate").

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Welch dated Chitwood and started living with her in 2005. R. 483. Welch had a checking account and a savings account with Farmers Bank (the "Accounts"). R. 41. In June 2013, Welch added Chitwood to his Accounts as "Joint-With Survivorship." R. 41, 49, 51. At that time, the Farmers Bank employee who assisted with this change on the Accounts recalled that Welch had difficulty speaking and communicating due to a recent stroke. R. 384. Even though Chitwood was on the Accounts, Welch contributed all of the funds to the Accounts. R. 483.¹²

Chitwood died in August 2015. R. 484. Shortly thereafter, the Co-Personal Representatives of the Chitwood Estate transferred the funds from the Accounts. R. 350–51. After Farmers Bank realized there was a dispute over the funds, it transferred the funds back to the Accounts, filed an interpleader action, and deposited the funds with the trial court. R. 11–15.

Additionally, the Chitwood Estate transferred two vehicles to itself following Chitwood's death. R. 310. Those vehicles had been titled in the names of Welch "or" Chitwood. R. 484. Welch contributed all funds to purchase these vehicles. *Id.* Welch filed a claim in the Chitwood

_

¹ The trial court made the finding that "Welch contributed all of the funds in the accounts from his separate property." R. 483. The trial court reiterated that it "also stands by its finding that Welch contributed 100% of the funds in the accounts." R. 492. This finding was made after substantial evidence was presented by way of affidavits, including bank statements. The citation to those can be found in the record on pages 311-316. The trial court's finding has not been challenged on appeal, and therefore, in the interest of brevity, the Welch Estate will not fully recite the facts that gave rise to the trial court's finding. The Welch Estate does note that this case was slated for a bench trial, and therefore the trial court was permitted to "arrive at the most probable inferences based upon the undisputed evidence properly before it...despite the possibility of conflicting inferences." *Intermountain Eye and Laser Centers, P.L.L.C. v. Miller*, 142 Idaho 218, 222, 127 P.3d 121, 125 (2005). Additionally, the appellate court does not disturb the trial court's findings of fact on appeal, unless those findings are clearly erroneous. *City of Meridian v. Petra Inc.*, 154 Idaho 425, 435, 299 P.3d 232, 242 (2013).

² During this period and until her death, Chitwood had and maintained her own separate bank accounts, into which she would deposit money that Welch would give her. R. 318–21.

Estate probate, and the probate court granted the Chitwood Estate's request to join the issue the ownership of those vehicles into this case. R. 310-311.

The Chitwood Estate answered the Interpleader Complaint, asserting the Slayer Statute generally. R. 21. Shortly thereafter, Welch filed for summary judgment, demonstrating therein that he contributed all monies to the Accounts, he was the owner of those funds pursuant to Idaho Code section 15-6-103(a), and regardless of whether he was determined to have caused Chitwood's death, the Slayer Statute did not operate to take his property from him. R. 35–39. The Chitwood Estate responded, asserting that subsection (g) of the Slayer Statute applied and that it was entitled to the funds in the Accounts. R. 237–40. The Chitwood Estate did not raise any other subsection of the Slayer Statute as a basis for it to be awarded the funds. *See* R. 232–46.

At the hearing on the motion for summary judgment, the trial court *sua sponte* raised subsection (c) of the Slayer Statute. Tr. P. 26, ll. 17-18. The trial court stated:

Slayer shall be deemed to have predeceased the decedent as to property which would have passed from the decedent to the estate to the slayer under the statute of dissent and distribution or have been acquired by statutory right of surviving spouse, which doesn't apply here, or under any agreement made by the decedent. Isn't that exactly what we have here? We have a joint tenancy with right of survivorship, and we have a pay on death account for the checking account. Those are agreements, are they not?

Tr. p. 26, ll. 22-25, p. 27, ll. 1-7. Welch responded, "But subsection C contemplates a situation where the property would have passed from the decedent or his state to the slayer, and that is not what we have here. We have a situation where it's going in the other direction." Tr. p. 27, ll. 10-14. The trial court responded, "Okay. That's your interpretation. That's fine." Tr. p. 27, ll. 15-16.

The trial court denied summary judgment, specifically noting that it did not believe that subsection (g) was applicable, but that subsection (c) was. Tr. p. 51, ll. 3-4. The trial court also placed a stay on the case pending Welch's criminal case outcome, as Welch had asserted his Fifth Amendment rights when deposed. *See* tr. pp. 45–52.

After that hearing, Welch was deemed to be incapacitated and his guardian was substituted into this action. R. at 310. Also, the depositions of the Co-Personal Representatives of the Chitwood Estate had been conducted. *Id.* Therefore, it was ripe to raise a second motion for summary judgment.

In Welch's second *Motion for Summary Judgment*, Welch addressed the trial court's argument regarding subsection (c) of the Slayer Statute. R. 329–30. Welch addressed only the ownership of the money in the Accounts and did not address whether Welch could be considered a "slayer." Specifically, Welch stated, "The argument is, even if we assume that Welch qualifies as a 'slayer,' Chitwood's estate still would not be entitled to the funds from the account." R. 330, n. 2. Welch also argued that the vehicles were owned entirely by him. R. 330–32. In response, the Chitwood Estate argued that Welch was a "slayer" and that subsection (g) applied. R. 448-49, 458. The Chitwood Estate did not argue for subsection (c) of the Slayer Statute or any other subsection as a basis for its claim to the money. *See* R. at 444–59. The Chitwood Estate did not move for summary judgment. R. 7–9.

At the hearing, the trial court again raised a subsection of the Slayer Statute *sua sponte*. This time, it was subsection (h). Tr. p. 76, ll. 18–19. Welch noted that he was unprepared to discuss subsection (h) as it had not been raised prior to the hearing. Tr. p. 76, ll. 22-25, p. 77, ll.

1–6, p. 80, ll. 13–22. The trial court recognized that it should not "start interjecting [its] own theories in this case." Tr. p. 80, ll. 24–25, p. 81, l. 1.

Nonetheless, in its *Memorandum Opinion on Motion for Summary Judgment*, the trial court awarded the vehicles to Welch and the money from the accounts to the Chitwood Estate on the bases of subsections (c) and (h) of the Slayer Statute—the two subsections that the trial court raised *sua sponte*. R. 491–93. The trial court also made a finding that Welch killed Chitwood, even though no party had moved the trial court to make that determination. R. 484. The trial court ordered that the money from the Accounts be released from the court to the Chitwood Estate 43 days after judgment, and that the Chitwood Estate deliver the vehicles to Welch 43 days after judgment. R. 495. Welch filed a *Notice of Appeal*, and a *Motion to Stay Distribution of Interpleader Funds*. R. 9. In response, the Chitwood Estate filed a *Motion to Stay* on the vehicles. *Id*. The trial court granted both motions after the 43 days had passed, even though the Chitwood Estate had not filed an appeal. The Welch Estate applied to the Supreme Court to vacate the stay order as it pertained to the vehicles and the Supreme Court granted that application. *See Order Vacating Stay*, Ref. No. 17-413.

II. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Whether the trial court erred by making a finding of fact that was not raised as an issue in the motion for summary judgment.
- B. Whether the Slayer Statute operates to take money owned by Welch and award it to the estate of the decedent.

C. Whether the Court erred by awarding the Account funds to the Chitwood Estate upon bases that were not raised by the Chitwood Estate.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal from an order on summary judgment, the appellate court's "standard of review is the same as the standard used by the district court in passing upon a motion for summary judgment." *Harwood v. Talbert*, 136 Idaho 672, 677, 39 P.3d 612, 617 (2001). "Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, affidavits, and discovery documents on file with the court, read in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, demonstrate no material issue of fact such that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Id*.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY MAKING A FINDING OF FACT THAT WAS NOT RAISED IN A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

To support the trial court's decision to award of the Account funds to the Chitwood Estate, the non-moving party, pursuant to the Slayer Statute, the trial court was required to make a finding of fact that Welch had caused the death of Chitwood. The trial court made that finding of fact despite that issue not being raised for decision in a summary judgment motion.

Issues not raised in a motion for summary judgment may not be decided by the trial court in its ruling on summary judgment. *Id.* at 678, 39 P.3d at 618. The policy behind such a rule is simple and straightforward: the party against whom the finding of fact will be made "must be

given adequate advance notice and an opportunity to demonstrate" why that finding of fact should not be made. *Id.* (addressing the granting of summary judgment generally).

In this case, Welch filed a motion for summary judgment that the Slayer Statute did not apply because the funds were owned by Welch, not Chitwood, and the Slayer Statute did not operate to take Welch's property from him. Welch made no argument in his motion for summary judgment that the trial court should rule that Welch was not a slayer. In fact, Welch's main arguments were under the headings, "The money from the Accounts was and is owned by Welch," "Slayer Statute does not take Welch's money and give it to Chitwood," and "Welch has 100% ownership interest in the vehicles." R. 326–30. The argument regarding the Slayer Statute was that the Slayer Statute could not be interpreted to take property from an alleged slayer and give it to the decedent. Nowhere in Welch's brief did he raise the issue of whether or not he was a "slayer" as it is defined in the Slayer Statute.

Despite this fact, the trial court took it upon itself to make that factual finding. It stated that it "first...must address...whether Welch is a slayer," and noted that "no evidence to the contrary has been presented." R. 491. The trial court failed to recognize that the reason no evidence to the contrary had been presented was because that issue was not raised for decision in a motion for summary judgment. Welch was the only party moving for summary judgment and his argument did not address whether Welch was a slayer and therefore a factual determination on that issue was irrelevant for purposes of that motion.

Had the trial court advised the parties that it would be making a determination regarding the "slayer" status of Welch, then the trial court would have complied with *Harwood* above, and

Welch would have had an opportunity to address the issue. However, the trial court gave no prior warning and Welch was not given the opportunity to dispute the allegation. Therefore, the trial court erred and, at the very least, this Court should remand for the purposes of having the factual issue of whether Welch qualifies as a "slayer" addressed in a procedurally appropriate manner.

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS INTERPRETATION AND LEGAL APPLICATION OF THE SLAYER STATUTE.

The trial court determined that subsections (c) and (h) of the Slayer Statute applied to preclude Welch from having his money. Putting aside the fact that neither one of these subsections were argued or asserted by the Chitwood Estate, and the fact that subsection (h) as a basis for recovery was raised by the trial court *sua sponte* at the hearing immediately preceding its decision, neither one of these subsections operate to take Welch's money from him. In fact, the trial court's interpretations of these two subsections are contrary to the explicit instruction of the Idaho Legislature.

"The language of a statute should be given its plain, usual and ordinary meaning." Idaho Code section 73-113.

1. The funds in the Accounts were Welch's Property.

To begin, Welch owned the funds in the Accounts. Idaho Code section 15-6-103(a) provides that a "joint account belongs, during the lifetime of all parties, to the parties in proportion to the net contributions by each to the sums on deposit..." As the Court recognized, Welch contributed 100% of the funds of the subject Accounts. Therefore, Welch owned 100% of the money in the Accounts.

2. The Slayer Statute does not operate to take property from alleged slayer.

The purpose of the Slayer Statute is to prohibit slayers from receiving benefits from causing the death of another. Idaho Code section 15-2-803(b) provides that "[n]o slayer shall in any way acquire any property or receive any benefit as a result of the death of the decedent, but *such property shall pass* as provided in the sections following." Emphasis added. This language contemplates that certain property is affected by the death of an individual ("property shall pass"), and that the slayer should not benefit from the passing of that property. The specific subsections that follow go on to address and prohibit several instances in which property could pass to a slayer upon the death of the decedent. *See generally*, Idaho Code section 15-2-803(c)-(1).

The Slayer Statute does not operate to strip alleged slayers of their own property. Not only does the Slayer Statute address property that *passes* upon the death of the decedent, it also concludes: "This section shall not be considered penal in nature, but shall be construed broadly in order to effect the policy of this state that no person shall be allowed to profit by his own wrong, wherever committed." Idaho Code section 15-2-803(n). The Supreme Court of Idaho acknowledged that "[t]he sole purpose of [the Slayer Statute] is to prevent a wrongdoer from profiting from his or her own wrong." *Wilkins v. Fireman's Fund Am. Life Ins. Co.*, 107 Idaho 1006, 1008, 695 P.2d 391, 393 (1985).

In sum, the Slayer Statute does not operate to take property *from* alleged slayers, but to prevent slayers from *receiving* property and benefits that arise from the fact the decedent died.

Despite these stated purposes, the trial court sought out and applied two subsections so that the effect would be to take Welch's property *from* him.

3. Subsection (c) does not apply to the Account Funds.

Subsection (c) of the Slayer Statute does not apply to take Welch's property and give it to the Chitwood Estate. That subsection states:

The slayer shall be deemed to have predeceased the decedent as to property which would have passed from the decedent or his estate to the slayer under the statutes of descent and distribution or have been acquired by statutory right as surviving spouse or under any agreement made with the decedent.

Idaho Code section 152-803(c). The trial court focused on the last part of this subsection, "or under any agreement made with the decedent." In fact, the trial court specifically raised the argument and then held that the second half did "not require that any property pass from Chitwood to Welch. Instead, it deals with property 'acquired under agreement." R. 493. With that view, the trial court, without addressing Idaho Code section 15-6-103(a), declared that Welch "acquired" the Account funds "under his agreement with Chitwood." *Id*.

However, Welch could not acquire property that was already his. As noted above, under Idaho law, the contributor of funds in a joint account is the owner of those funds. "Acquire" is defined as "to come into possession or ownership of." http://www.dictionary.com/browse/acquire?s=t (accessed: January 22, 2018). As Welch owned the Account funds before Chitwood's death, he could not have "acquired" them when she died. Therefore, subsection (c) does not apply to the Accounts in this circumstance.

4. Subsection (h) does not apply to the Account funds.

Subsection (h) of the Slayer Statute does not apply to take Welch's property and give it to the Chitwood Estate. That subsection states:

As to any contingent remainder or executory or other future interest held by the slayer, subject to become vested in him or increased in any way for him upon the condition of the death of the decedent:

- (1) If the interest would not have become vested or increased if he had predeceased the decedent, he shall be deemed to have so predeceased the decedent.
- (2) In any case the interest shall not be vested or increased during period of the life expectancy of the decedent.

Idaho Code section 15-2-803(h). In construing this subsection, the trial court argued and held that:

Welch had a future interest in these accounts—his own right of survivorship. That interest would not have vested if he had predeceased Chitwood because in that event, her right of survivorship would have vested. Thus, Welch benefitted as a resulting of killing Chitwood, which is not allowed under the statute.

R. 491–92. While stating that Welch had a future interest in the Accounts may be arguably true, his interest was not at issue and the application of that future interest was erroneous.

The reference to future interest in the Slayer Statute does not include property already owned by the alleged slayer, but to property that would be obtained by the alleged slayer by way of the alleged slayer surviving the decedent. In *In re Trust Estate of Jamison*, 636 A.2d 1190 (Sup. Ct. Penn. 1994) this language was appropriately applied. In *Jamison*, a mother set up a trust that was to benefit her and one of her daughters and, upon the death of both, be distributed in shares whereby the slayer would receive 50%. *Id.* at 1191. The slayer killed the mother and the other beneficiary committed suicide. *Id.* The appellate court in that case applied language the

same as the Slayer Statute's subsection (h) and precluded the slayer from receiving the trust assets as the slayer's entitlement to them were conditioned on her surviving the two beneficiaries of the trust. *Id.* at 1194.

In this case, that language does not apply. Any future interest in the Accounts for Welch would have been for the funds that were owned by *Chitwood* in the Accounts. As each person on the account owns that which they contribute to the Accounts, under Idaho law, 0% of the Accounts were owned by Chitwood because she contributed 0% of the money in the Accounts. Therefore, Welch would have had a future interest of \$0 in the Accounts.

In the trial court's interpretation, the trial court flipped the "future interest" that is the subject of the Slayer Statute. As noted in Idaho Code section 15-2-803(h), the subject is the future interest the slayer has, not the decedent. Despite this view, the trial court continuously looked at what interest Chitwood had. For example, the trial court stated, "[t]herefore, the Court finds that Chitwood had a property interest in these accounts which could trigger the slayer statute." R. 489. That interpretation flips the focus of future interests in the Slayer Statute.

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