Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-21-2018

Hodge for and on behalf of Welch v. Waggoner Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45336

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. <u>THE TRIAL COURT WAS REQUIRED TO AND CORRECT IN FINDING</u> WELCH A SLAYER.

Welch contends that the trial court erred in making the finding that Welch caused the death of Chitwood. Welch erroneously claims that the issue of whether or not Welch was a slayer was not properly before the trial court. Welch makes the claim that in filing a motion for summary judgment, the "Slayer Statute" was not properly before the court. However, the court and the parties expansively discussed the "Slayer Statute" in the first motion for summary judgment.

Chitwood asserted application of the "Slayer Statute" in the answer filed at the commencement of the interpleader action. Welch claims that issues not raised in a motion for summary judgment may not be decided by the trial court in its ruling on summary judgment, citing *Harwood vs. Talbert*, 136 Idaho 672, 39 P.2d 617 (2001). However, *Harwood* actually supports the court's action in the instant matter. In *Harwood*, this court wrote:

"In this case, partial summary judgment was granted to Harwood, the non-moving party. This court has determined "summary judgment may be rendered for any party, not just the moving party, on any or all the causes of action involved, under the Rule of Civil Procedure", thus allowing trial courts flexibility in determining the form of relief granted in summary judgment orders." (*Id* at 617, 677).

"The district court may grant summary judgment to a non-moving party even if the party has not filed its own motion with the court. A motion for summary judgment allows the court to rule on the issues placed before it as a matter of law; the moving party runs the risk that the court will find against it, as in this case." (*Id* at 617, 677; see also *Brummett vs. Ediger*, 106, 724, 682 P.2d 1271 (1984)).

Welch maintains that, in his motion for summary judgment, the "Slayer Statute" did not

apply because the funds were owned by Welch, not Chitwood. Welch points out that nowhere in

its brief did he raise the issue whether or not he was a slayer as defined by the "Slayer Statute".

In its brief, Welch then claims "despite this fact, the trial court took it upon itself to make that

factual finding". (Appellant's Brief p.7). That is entirely wrong.

In its answer and both responses to the motions for summary judgment, Chitwood repeatedly indicated that the court was required to apply the "Slayer Statute" and ultimately determine if it was applicable in a finding that Welch was indeed the slayer of Chitwood.

Welch erroneously claims that the trial court failed to recognize that the reason no evidence to contradict the showing the evidence that Welch was a slayer was needed to be presented because it wasn't raised for decision. This is nonsense. The application of the "Slayer Statute" was the seminal issue as to the application of funds held in interpleader from the very outset of the case. Welch then claims that had the trial court advised the parties it would be making a determination regarding the slayer status of Welch, Welch would have had an opportunity to address the issue. Welch was well advised as to the application of the "Slayer Statute" at the outset of the case and upon the court's initial ruling in denying the initial motion for summary judgment.

Welch then requests that this Court remand the matter for purposes of having the factual issue of whether Welch qualifies as slayer addressed by the trial court in what Welch deems a "procedurally appropriate manner". (Appellant's Brief p.8). The procedurally appropriate manner claimed, is supposedly that Welch be given notice of its application, which has been repeatedly advanced by Chitwood from the outset. Further, Welch had the opportunity to rebut the evidence of Chitwood's murder, but chose not to. Additionally, if the court grants the *Motion to Augment Record* filed by Chitwood herein, Welch has already been adjudged causing the wrongful death of Chitwood in the collateral action, Twin Falls County Case No. CV42-15-3921.

The court had the authority to apply the "Slayer Statute" and rule upon the issues placed before it is a matter of law and determined the appropriate relief from the cause of action involved. Welch, as moving party, ran the risk that the court would apply the "Slayer Statute" and rule upon its effect upon the subject accounts. The trial court's ruling was entirely appropriate.

B. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY INTERPRETED AND APPLIED "THE SLAYER STATUE".

Welch has steadfastly maintained that the "Slayer Statute" has no application. In its rulings denying both motions for summary judgment, and ultimately awarding the accounts to Chitwood, the trial court, as the trier of fact, correctly and expansively reviewed the application of the "Slayer

Statute".

Courts have occasionally been required to raise and decide issues sua sponte, in the interest of justice. This has applied both at the trial and appellate levels. Professor Robert Martineau provided a metaphor for *sua sponte* appellate decision making as follows:

"There's a general rule that appellate courts should not decide issues not raised by the parties. And then, there's the exception, known as the "gorilla rule", that is "unless they do". Because, the 800 pound gorilla may sit wherever it wants." (R. Martineau, Considering New Issues on Appeal: the General Rule and the Gorilla Rule, 40 Vanderbilt Law Review 1023 (1987)).

The United States Supreme Court has not adopted a general rule regarding sua sponte decision making on the appellate level. In Singleton vs. Wulff, 428 US 106, 121 (1976), the court

wrote:

"The matter of what questions may be taken up and resolved for the first time on appeal is one left primarily to the discretion of the courts of appeal, to be exercised on the facts of individual cases. We announce no general rule."

Notably, a landmark Supreme Court case, Mapp vs Ohio, 376 US 643 (1961), went well

outside the bounds of general review whereas the Supreme Court overruled earlier precedent and

applied the 4th Amendment Exclusionary Rule to the states without briefing or hearing arguments

on that issue. That landmark case has expansive application under 4th Amendment Constitutional

Law on a daily basis in the courts even today.

The above is referenced only to emphasize that courts, at both the trial court and appellate

level have properly raised issues, sua sponte, when justice so requires. Therefore, the trial court

here, *sua sponte*, included a review of a section of an applicable statute. This is allowable. In Idaho, this court has ruled that at summary judgment stage, a cause of action not raised in party's pleadings may not be considered on summary judgment nor may it be considered for the first time on appeal. (*Edmonson vs. Shearer Lumber Products*, 139 Idaho 172, 75 P.3d 733 (2003)). However, a clear distinction here is not that the court, *sua sponte*, reviewed a <u>cause of action</u> not raised, but application of provisions within a <u>statute</u> raised by Chitwood in reference to the seminal issue of application of the "Slayer Statute".

In Barlow's Inc. vs Bannock Cleaning, Corp., 103 Idaho 310, 647 P.2d 766 (1982), this court writes:

"A motion for summary judgment urges the trial court hold that there are no genuine issues of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (IRCP 56(c)). However, if the court determines, after hearing, that no genuine issues of material fact exists, the court may enter judgment for the parties it deems entitled to prevail as a matter of law. Thus, in appropriate circumstances, the court is authorized to enter summary judgment in favor of non-moving parties." (*Ibid.* at 313, 769).

Additionally, this court has ruled that where a motion to dismiss is transformed into a motion for summary judgment, where the parties submitted affidavits considered by the district court, and although plaintiff did not move for summary judgment, the district court was nonetheless empowered to grant it. (*Just's, Inc. vs Arrington Construction Co., Inc.,* 99 Idaho 462, 583 P.2d 997 (1978)). Clearly, the trial court was authorized to rule as it did.

Here, Welch has been alerted to the existence of the application of the "Slayer Statute" from the answer filed by Chitwood at the onset of the case. R.20-23. In the court's first denial of Welch's motion for summary judgment, the "Slayer Statute's" application was addressed expansively. In *Mason vs. Tucker and Associates*, 125 Idaho 429, 871 P.2d 846 (Ct. App 1994), this court wrote:

"The district court's error in granting summary judgment based upon rationales not raised by the motion does not necessarily require reversal. If the district court's order for summary judgment was correct, though based upon an inappropriate theory, this court will affirm upon the correct theory. (*Cites omitted*). Therefore, we will consider whether summary judgment dismissing plaintiff's claims should be affirmed on the statute of limitation grounds advanced by the defendants below."

On that basis, if the trial court correctly applied the "Slayer Statute", it should be affirmed.

Though differing subsections of the slayer statue were applied, Welch had more than adequate

notice to address all aspects of the "Slayer Statute". The trial court did not err in interpreting the

"Slayer Statute". Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 56 also indicates:

"(c) Procedures.

(3) Materials Not Cited. The court need consider only the cited materials, but it may consider other material in the record."

In addition, Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 56(e). Failing to Properly Support or Address a

Fact, indicates:

"If a party fails to properly support an assertion of fact or fails to properly address another party's assertion of fact as required by Rule 56(c), the court may, : (4) issue any other appropriate order."

This explicitly allows the trial court to determine the facts and law supported by the evidence at summary judgment, and issue an appropriate order, which occurred here. Obviously, this required the trial court to determine the "law", and interpret the "Slayer Statute" as it applied to the facts. The court determined that Welch was a slayer. The court applied the "Slayer Statute" to the accounts. The court determined whether or not Chitwood had "any" interest in the accounts and found that she did thereby awarding the accounts to her. This is required under the law.

Welch cites Idaho Code §73-113 in reference to statutory construction. The district court carefully and thoroughly reviewed the "Slayer Statute", both at oral argument and in its written decision in applying its plain, usual and ordinary meaning.

1) The accounts, by Welch's own volition, were made joint accounts with right of survivorship, providing an interest to Chitwood.

In its brief, Welch points out that the court recognized Welch contributed the funds to the joint accounts. However, Welch is not cognizant that Chitwood had <u>an</u> interest in the accounts when the election was made by Welch and jointly with Chitwood to designate the accounts ownership as joint-with survivorship. Welch, on his own volition, added Chitwood to the accounts and specifically chose the manner of the accounts as joint-with survivorship.

2) The "Slayer Statute" applies to the accounts.

Welch argues that the "Slayer Statute" is to prohibit slayers from receiving benefits from causing the death of another. Idaho Code §15-2-803(n) states:

"This section shall not be considered penal in nature, <u>but shall be construed</u> broadly in order effect the policy of this state that no person shall be allowed to profit by his own wrong, wherever committed." (Emphasis added).

Under its plain and ordinary meaning, the application of the "Slayer Statute" is not intended

to fine an individual for their crime or offense. However, broad construction is required to ensure

that the broad public policy is applied that an individual should not profit by their wrongdoing.

This is no transient notion but an ancient one. The genesis of the "Slayer Statute" can be traced

back to the ancient maxim ex turpi causa non oritu actio:

"Out of base [illegal or immoral], consideration, an action cannot arise." (*Black's Law Dictionary*, 5th Ed. West Publishing Co., 1979 p. 529)

As Lord Mansfield wrote in Holman vs. Johnson, 1KOWP 341, 343 (1775):

"If, from the plaintiff's own standing or otherwise, there the cause of action appears to rise *ex turpi causa*, or the transgression of a positive law of this country, the court says he has no right to be assisted. It is upon that ground that the court goes; not for the sake of the defendant, but because they will lend their aide to such a plaintiff."

This maxim is implicitly applied in Idaho "Slayer Statue" to mandate that the broad public policy

is followed to ensure that a person does not profit by his own wrongdoing, wherever committed.

Under a broad analysis of the "Slayer Statute", it is undisputed that Welch, having previously been the account holder, elected to place Chitwood on the accounts as a joint owner with survivorship. The trial court then was required, having found that the statute applied because of the murder of Chitwood by Welch, in reviewing Idaho Code §15-2-803, to determine what the effect of the homicide allowed on the distribution of the accounts under a broad policy analysis. In applying Idaho Code §15-2-803(a)(2), the court correctly identified property as:

"<u>Any</u> real and personal property and <u>any</u> right or interest therein". R.487. (Emphasis added).

The trial court then ruled that (h) and (c) of the "Slayer Statute" are applicable to the account funds. Subsection (h) applies to:

"Any contingent remainder or executory or other future interest held by the slayer, subject to become vested in him or increased in any way for him upon the condition of the death of the decedent." (Idaho Code §15-2-803(h)).

The statute continues:

"(1) If the interest would not have become vested or increased if he had predeceased the decedent, he shall be deemed to have so predeceased the decedent." (*Ibid*).

A future interest "vests", when there is a person and being would have a right, defeasible

or indefeasible, to the immediate possession of the property upon the ceasing of the immediate or

precedent interest. (Idaho Code §55-105). R.491.

The trial court found that Welch had a future interest in these accounts-his own right of

survivorship. If Chitwood survived Welch, her right of survivorship would have become "vested".

On that basis, the court correctly found that Welch benefited as a result of murdering Chitwood,

which is not allowed under the "Slayer Statute". R.491, 492. The trial court then goes on in writing:

"Subsection (c) also applies. That section provides that a slayer "shall be deemed to have predeceased the decedent as to property which would...have been acquired...under <u>any</u> agreement made with the decedent. (Emphasis added). Again, "property" is defined very broadly as "<u>any real or personal property</u>" and "<u>any right</u> <u>or interest therein</u>". (Idaho Code §15-2-803(a)(3) (Emphasis added). R.492.

The trial court's analysis of the "Slayer Statute" application was correct.

Survivorship is the distinctive characteristic or major incident of an estate in joint tenancy. Indeed, at common law, survivorship was an inherent attribute of joint tenancies, and it existed without any mention in the deed of conveyance. The incident of survivorship grows out of the application of common law principles wholly independent of statute. Such right is viewed as existing in a joint tenancy. (48ACJS Joint Tenancy §3). The trial court realized the significance of the accounts themselves, "joint-with survivorship". The trial court seized upon the "with survivorship" meaning.

The trial court's finding, in applying the "Slayer Statute" in the instant case, has also been found to be appropriately applied in other jurisdictions. In *Sikora vs. Sikora*, 160 Montana 27, 499 P.2d 808 (1972), the court applied the same analysis to similar facts. In *Sikora*, the controlling issue raised in the appeal is whether the surviving widow, who was guilty of voluntary manslaughter of her husband, can share in the estate of her husband by the operation of the laws of joint tenancy, etc. The court writes:

"The question of whether Mrs. Sikora may by right of survivorship take property owned jointly by her husband and herself has already been settled in Montana. This court held in *Estate of Cox*, 141 Montana 583, 380 P.2d 584 (1963), that a joint tenant, who had intentionally and wrongfully killed another joint tenant, was not entitled to the survivorship share in the property. As a remedy in this type of situation we held that constructive trust would be imposed on the property for the benefit of the heirs of the deceased joint tenant. We based this decision on the equitable principle that a wrongdoer may not benefit from his wrongful acts. (Section 49-109, R.C.M. 1947). This same principle holds true in this case. The laws governing joint tenancy will not be given a strict construction where the demands of justice and public policy demand another." (*Ibid.* at 30, 31, 810). (Emphasis added).

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